1958

Narvol Johnson and LaFaun J. Fleming v. Calvin C. Johnson and Anna R. Johnson : Brief of Defendants and Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Arthur Johnson and Carrie Johnson were husband and wife and residents of Kanab, Kane County, Utah, and during the lifetime of Carrie Johnson, who died July 19, 1958, the husband and wife acquired property on Center Street in Kanab consisting of rental property, -- pool room, service station, store and other rental units (Tr. 14-16,

130-131, 181-182). The Johnsons had three children, Narvel Arthur Johnson, one of the plaintiffs above named, LaFaun Johnson Fleming, one of the Plaintiffs above named and Calvin C. Johnson, the youngest of the Johnson children, who is one of the defendants herein named.

Prior to the death of Carrie Johnson the Johnsons, husband and wife, had carried on a grocery business in property owned by them, and Mrs. Carrie Johnson looked after the grocery business to quite an extent while her husband had other interests such as field property and cattle and ranch, and spent part of his time looking after those interests. After the death of Arthur Johnson's wife, Carrie, Arthur Johnson looked after the grocery business most of the time, --part of the time he had someone employed to help and at times his son Calvin would help in the store. (Tr. 26-27)

Arthur Johnson was having some physical troubles, two prostate operations in 1953, some eye trouble necessitating two operations in Salt Lake City in 1955, and during this time he was troubled with hypertension or high blood pressure. These troubles necessitated him spending some time in the hospital at various times, and since January 1957, he has been in the Kane County Hospital continuously due to the progression of the hypertension which necessitated medical treatment and care, (Tr 38, 252, 276).

On the 20th day of July, 1955, the said Arthur Johnson conveyed by Warranty Deed to his son, Calvin C. Johnson, what is called and referred to as the field land south of Kanab, Utah. The deed was prepared by Patrick H. Fenton, an attorney of Cedar City, Utah, who had conferred with the said Arthur Johnson several times and for extended period of time relative to said

conveyance. (Ex 7) (Tr 502-505)

After the execution of said conveyance, Calvin Johnson was called to the place of business of said Arthur Johnson, and there, in the presence of Attorney Fenton, the Warranty Deed was delivered to the said Calvin Johnson. At the time of delivery of said conveyance Arthur Johnson stated in the presence of Calvin Johnson and Attorney Fenton, that, speaking to Calvin Johnson, "You have paid for this property" or words to that effect.

Prior to the 20th day of May, 1956, Attorney Fenton had several conferences with Arthur Johnson at his place of business in Kanab; also had some conversation with Calvin C. Johnson relative to the property on Center Street in Kanab, and on May 20, 1956, at Kanab, Utah, Arthur Johnson, in the presence of Attorney Fenton executed the conveyance of the Center Street property

(Plff Ex. 1), which property is fully described in Plaintiffs' complaint, and delivered said Deed of conveyance to the said Calvin Johnson. At the same time, Arthur Johnson and Calvin Johnson entered into a written agreement of sale of the property, (Plff. Ex. 2), and on the same day Arthur Johnson executed a Will (Plff. Ex. 6), the execution thereof being witnessed by Attorney Patrick H. Fenton and his wife, who subscribed to said Will as witnesses. (Tr. 505-507, 517-520)

Thereafter, on July 27, 1957, Marvel A. Johnson and LaFaun J. Fleming, the plaintiffs herein as Guardians, filed a petition for appointment of guardians of Arthur Johnson in which they alleged that he was incompetent, and requested the Honorable John L. Sevy, Jr., District Judge of the Sixth Judicial District, in and for Kane County, to appoint them as Guardians

of his Estate. A hearing was had thereon on the 6th day of August, 1957, and an Order was made by the Court appointing the said Marvel A. Johnson and LaFaun J. Fleming Guardians of the said Arthur Johnson, an incompetent.

After the appointment of said guardians, Calvin Johnson, the owner of the Center Street property, by virtue of the conveyance heretofore referred to, and also the owner of the field property by virtue of the conveyance of the same as referred to above, continued to work the fields and continued to collect rentals from the rental units on the Center Street property except the Service Station which was being operated by the said Marvel A. Johnson. There is evidence that the various rental units were being rented as follows:

Drug Store	per month	\$100.00
Snack Bar	per month	75.00
Gift Shop	per month	80.00
Pool Hall	per month	200.00
Grocery Store	per month	80.00
Clothing Store	per month	100.00

(Tr. 130-131, 181-182)

After the conveyance of said property to Calvin C. Johnson, he mortgaged the same for the construction of what is called the "Dairy Queen" and he rented that property for \$300.00 per month. There is some conflict as to the value of the property at the time of conveyance to Calvin C. Johnson, but the sale price to him was \$50,000.00 for all of the Center property (Plff Ex. 2)

On October 5, 1957, Narvel A. Johnson and LaFaun J. Fleming as Guardians of the person and estate of Arthur Johnson, an incompetent, filed a complaint against Calvin C. Johnson and Anna R. Johnson, as Defendants, alleging that Arthur Johnson, for three years prior to the filing of said action, had been in ill health, unable to look after his business affairs and alleging that the said Calvin C. Johnson had taken upon himself the operation of the business

of Arthur Johnson and alleging that since 1955 Arthur Johnson had not been mentally competent to handle and manage his affairs and that on or about the 20th day of May, 1956, while Arthur Johnson was in a weakened mental and physical condition, Calvin C. Johnson by fraud and wrongful scheming and design, and without adequate consideration and by fraudulent pretenses, induced Arthur Johnson to convey the Center Street property to him. (See Complaint)

Plaintiffs further allege that at said time Calvin C. Johnson, by artful conduct, blandishments, false pretenses and coercion, exerted undue influence upon said Arthur Johnson and induced him to sign the agreement of sale, (Plff Ex. 2).

Plaintiffs further allege that on the 20th day of May, 1956 when the said Arthur Johnson was mentally incompetent and under the coercion and undue influence of the

defendant Calvin C. Johnson, he was induced to execute a Will called the last Will and Testament of the said Arthur Johnson, which Will they prayed be declared null and void and of no force and effect, and also said Agreement be declared and adjudged null and void and of no force and effect, and that the Warranty Deed be declared and adjudged null and void and of no force and effect and that the title of Arthur Johnson to all of said real, person and mixed property described in said complaint be quieted in the plaintiffs as Guardians. (See Complaint)

Defendants by their answer denied all the material allegations of said complaint relating to coercion, undue influence and incompetency of the said Arthur Johnson.
(Defts. Answer)

Thereafter, and after the defendant, Calvin C. Johnson, had recorded the deed to the property known as the field property,

which was done January 16, 1958, the plaintiffs filed an amended complaint alleging that the said Arthur Johnson was incompetent at the time of the conveyance of said field property (Ex 7) on July 20, 1955, and alleging that the said Calvin C. Johnson, by artful conduct, blandishments, false and fraudulent pretenses, undue influence, wrongful scheme and coercion induced said Arthur Johnson to execute said conveyance to said field land. (See Amended Complaint)

All of which said allegations were denied by the defendants in their answer to said Amended Complaint. (See Answer to Amended Complaint)

The issues being joined and the matter ready for trial, defendants made a demand for a jury to hear said case, and paid the jury fee. March 4, 1958, at 2:00 o'clock p.m., the demand for jury was heard, the

Plaintiffs objected to a jury on the ground that the issues were equitable. A jury was denied and the case set for trial on March 17, 1958, at 10:00 O'clock a.m. (See minute entry).

After the death of Arthur Johnson's wife, on July 19, 1953, Arthur Johnson lived at the store he was operating and at his own home until he sold the store in February, 1956, after which he stayed in his own home part of the time and at Marvel Johnson's part of the time and he spent some time with his daughter in Midvale, Utah. Particularly after the sale of the store in February, 1956, Marvel and his wife, Della, looked after Arthur Johnson, had him at their home considerable of the time and fed him his meals much of the time. During part of that time he was under medical care for hypertension and other troubles and there were several periods of

time that he spent in the hospital, in April 1956, May, 1956, June, 1956 and since January 1957 he has been in the hospital continuously for medical treatment. (Tr. 28-41, 80-84, 168-176)

Dr. Fulstow treated Arthur Johnson for hypertension and other troubles at the home and at the hospital (Tr 52-53) and at times Arthur Johnson was disoriented which is not uncommon in hypertension cases (Tr.82). He did have a mild stroke on June 23, 1956, which was the first stroke that he had had (Tr 80-81), but has had several since that time. There was no medical evidence of mental disturbance in April and May, 1956, (Tr 83), but since June 1956, he has been confused, needed help to take care of his affairs and since January 1957 has been incompetent, but that his mental illness and incompetency was not questioned until after May 1956. (Tr. 83-84)

In March or February, 1956, Arthur Johnson was in Salt Lake City and visited his brother, Vern Johnson. He stayed at a hotel where he would be closer to the eye-specialist. He didn't want to stay at his daughter LaFaun's at Midvale because of the noise and confusion of the children. At times he was confused, at times he knew what he was doing, he wrote checks and took care of other matters (Tr. 108).

In 1955 Vern Johnson talked to his brother, Arthur Johnson, told him he ought to get his property fixed up and he, Arthur, said he was going to have it divided three ways and later on he told Vern he had it fixed up and it was over in Cedar City in Fenton's hands and he said that a deed had been fixed up at the same time. At one time Arthur Johnson told Vern Johnson that he was worried about Fred Fleming, LaFaun's husband, getting his property for fear that

he would spend it and he also said that Narvol would spend it too. (Tr. 109, 117-118)

On July 3, 1955, Arthur Johnson went to J. M. Meeks, his bishop in Kanab, Utah, and got a recommend to go through the Temple and he also got a recommend on January 15, 1956, to go in the Temple, after which he told the Bishop that he felt very good about it. (Tr. 405-407, 415-416)

In the latter part of 1956, while Arthur Johnson was spending considerable time at Narvol Johnson's at or near the service station, the matter of a new pump and canopy for the station was discussed between Arthur and Narvol Johnson and Arthur Johnson advised and told Norval Johnson to get the new pump and pay for the same out of rentals. (Tr. 153-155, 211-212)

Arthur Johnson spent some time, nearly every month of 1955, at the home of his daughter, LaFaun in Midvale, Utah, (Tr. 254) and was at her home in February, 1956,

where he had gone to participate in some tour (Tr. 255, 280), but he stayed at the Hotel for about a week in February, 1956, (Tr. 281) and he went through the Temple in Salt Lake City in the latter part of 1956, and in September and October he was at her home for about a month, many checks were made out and signed by Arthur Johnson for various sums of money (Tr. 257, 286-287).

On July 1, 1955, Arthur Johnson and Martiner Jones and his wife executed a lease upon the drug store owned by Arthur Johnson, the said lease had been discussed prior to that time by the parties. (Tr. 382, 392).

In the fall of 1955, Sylvan W. Johnson negotiated with Arthur Johnson for the sale of the grocery store business and the rental of the store. Negotiations went on for a month or two and then in January and February stock was taken, lease signed and Sylvan Johnson went into the operation of the store.

(Tr. 430-437). Before Arthur Johnson moved out of the store into his own home, he negotiated with one John K. Little for the digging a cesspool which work was done for the said Arthur Johnson and paid for by him. (Tr. 481-493)

Some time prior to the sale of the store to Sylvan Johnson, Arthur Johnson employed one Joel Johnson to help him in the store. (Tr. 550).

On or about June 1, 1956, G. C. Bonham negotiated a lease of the clothing store from Arthur Johnson, said negotiations being with Arthur Johnson and the lease being negotiated with Arthur Johnson and Calvin Johnson at that time. (Tr. 556-560)

POINTS RELIED UPON

POINT NO. I.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE DEFENDANTS AND APPELLANTS THE RIGHT OF TRIAL BY JURY.

POINT NO. II.

THE COURT ERRED IN ITS FINDINGS OF FACT #5 THAT THE DEFENDANT CALVIN C. JOHNSON DOMINATED THE SAID ARTHUR JOHNSON OR OVERSAW MOST OF HIS BUSINESS AFFAIRS OR THAT THE SAID ARTHUR JOHNSON REPOSED SPECIAL TRUST AND CONFIDENCE IN SAID DEFENDANT.

POINT NO. III.

THE COURT ERRED IN ITS FINDINGS OF FACT NOS. 6 and 7 FOR THE REASON THAT THE SAME IS CONTRARY TO AND NOT SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE OR PLEADINGS AND IS CONTRARY TO THE FACTS.

POINT NO. IV:

THAT THE COURT ERRED IN ITS FINDING OF FACT NO. 8 THAT CALVIN C. JOHNSON OPERATED ARTHUR JOHNSON'S BUSINESS AS HE SAW FIT FOR THE REASON THAT THE SAME IS CONTRARY TO THE EVIDENCE.

POINT NO. V:

THAT THE COURT ERRED IN ITS FINDINGS OF FACT NOS. 9, 10, 14, 15, 16 and 17 FOR THE REASON THAT THE SAME IS CONTRARY TO AND NOT SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE.

POINT NO. VI:

THAT THE COURT ERRED IN ITS CONCLUSIONS OF LAW NOS. 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10 and 11 AND THE WHOLE THEREOF FOR THE REASON THAT THE SAME IS CONTRARY TO AND NOT SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE.

POINT NO. VII:

THAT THE COURT ERRED IN ITS JUDGMENT AND DECREE IN DETERMINING THAT THE DEEDS,

CONTRACT OF SALE AND THE WILL REFERRED TO
IN THE PLEADINGS WERE NULL AND VOID.

ARGUMENT

POINT NO. I.

The Trial Court erred in denying the
defendants' and appellants' demand for trial
by jury.

Paragraph 17 of plaintiffs' and res-
pondents' complaint asks that the Will of
Arthur Johnson (Ex. No. 14) be declared null
and void on the ground of coercion and undue
influence by Calvin C. Johnson and in-
competence of the testator.

That the contest of a Will upon the above
ground is a law case has been declared by
the Utah Supreme Court many times:

"A Will case is a Law case,--"
re: George's Estate 112 Pac 2d,
498

"A Will case being a Law case,--"
Re: Buttars' Estate, 261 Pac 2d,
171

"A contest over validity of a Will
is an action at Law rather than in

equity,--"

In re, Lavelle's Estate
248 Pac 2d, 372

Defendants and appellants were entitled to have the issues raised by the plaintiffs' complaint regarding the Will tried by jury, unless the joining of the law case with the equitable issues raised by plaintiffs' and respondents' pleadings with reference to deed and contract would justify the court in denying the jury. It is agreed that the allegations of incompetency, coercion, undue influence, etc. raised with reference to the deeds to the field property and the execution of the contract are equitable issues.

Where legal and equitable remedies are sought in the same action, the court held in Norback vs. Board of Directors of Church Extension SOC, 37 Pac 2d 345 (Utah):

"If the issues are legal or the major issue legal, either party is entitled upon proper demand to a jury trial;

but, if the issues are equitable or the major issues to be resolved by an application of equity, the legal issues being merely subsidiary, the action should be regarded as equitable and the rules of equity apply."

In *Valley Mortuary vs. Fairbanks* reported in 225 Pac 2d, 739 (Utah), the Court held as follows:

Section 8: "Likewise, in actions in this state in which the plaintiff unites in his complaint two complete causes of action, in one of which he seeks equitable relief and legal relief in the other, sound reasoning compels us to the conclusion that the rule adopted by the Supreme Court of California in *Pacific Western Oil Co. v. Bern Oil Co.*, supra (13 Cal. 2d. 60, 87 P.2d 1045) should be observed in this state. That is, a jury trial should be accorded the parties on the issues of fact raised in the legal cause of action."

And in Section 9 of said case, after a discussion of the rule in the *Norback* case set forth above, the Court held as follows:

"Appraised in the light of the California rule, the *Norback* case is apparently correct in result, but the rule there laid down as to when litigants are entitled to a trial by jury, which we have quoted above, cannot be reconciled with the California rule

which we have approved and adopted in this opinion. There may be certain type of cases, although none occur to us now, in which the issues of fact in the legal cause of action are so intertwined with the issues of fact in the equitable cause of action that they cannot be separated for the purpose of trial by jury. Only then would it seem that the court should determine whether the major issue or issues are legal or equitable and grant or deny a jury trial accordingly. Otherwise the parties should be entitled to a jury trial on the issues of fact in the legal cause of action."

POINTS NO. II TO VII INC.

The matters raised by these point are so inter-related as to testimony and the pleadings that to discuss each point separately would of necessity be repetitions and confusing.

The discussion concerns the allegations in the Complaint and the Findings and Conclusions as to undue influence, fraudulent and wrongful scheme and design on the part of Calvin C. Johnson, one of the defendants, and the mental incompetence of Arthur Johnson at the time of the execution of deeds,

contract and the Will referred to in the pleadings and exhibits herein.

The deed to the field property was executed on July 20, 1955 (Ex 7) and the question is, "Was Arthur Johnson at that time mentally incompetent? Did his son Calvin C. Johnson use undue influence to procure the execution of the same and did he practice fraud and wrongful scheme upon Arthur Johnson to procure the execution of the said deed?" In *Anderson v. Thomas*, 159 P.2d, 142 (Utah) the Court said,

"The plaintiff must do more than merely raise a suspicion. There must be some affirmative evidence to show that Richard did exercise a dominating influence over this mother and thus induced her to part with her property---"

And quoting further from said case as to mental capacity:

"In determining whether or not the grantor had sufficient mental capacity to execute a deed, the focal point of the inquiry is the condition of the grantor's mind at the

time of the execution of the deed. Less weight is given to remote transactions and conversations."

"The test for determining whether a person had mental capacity to contract was stated as follows by this court in Hatch v. Hatch, 46 Utah 218, 148 P. 433, 438: 'In ordinary contracts the test is, Were the mental facilities so deficient or impaired that there was not sufficient power to comprehend the subject of the contract, its nature and its probable consequences, and to act with discretion in relation thereto, or with relation to the ordinary affairs of life?' We see no reason why the same test should not apply to determine whether or not a grantor has sufficient mental capacity to make a deed."

Dr. Fulstow testified that he had treated Arthur Johnson for some time and as a matter of fact he was still under Dr. Fulstow's care at the hospital at the time of the trial of the case, but Dr. Fulstow testified that there was nothing in his treatment of Arthur Johnson prior to May 20, 1956, that caused him to question his ability to attend to business or was it

called to his attention of any mental sickness or lack of ability.

On July 1, 1955, Arthur Johnson discussed a lease of the Drug Store with Martiner Jones and his wife Nellif F. Jones. Discussions were had a few times prior to the time of the execution of the same and both of them testified that he appeared to be mentally competent and that there was nothing, during that time, in the actions of Arthur Johnson or in his conversation that caused them to question his mental facilities.

Frank Farnsworth, an old time friend of Arthur Johnson, knew him all his lifetime and had visited him quite often and had seen him frequently except for the short time when Farnsworth was in Nevada. He returned, however, in 1954 and saw Arthur Johnson very often after that time at the pool room and at the store, and during 1955

and 1956 particularly, he stated that there was nothing in his conversations with Arthur Johnson or any of the circumstances under which they met that would lead him to believe that he was not in his right mind and did not have his mental facilities.

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