1958

# Narvol Johnson and LaFaun J. Fleming v. Calvin C. Johnson and Anna R. Johnson : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

### I. THE EVIDENCE FULLY SUSTAINS THE TRIAL COURT’S FINDINGS.

- (a) IT HAS BEEN ESTABLISHED UNDER PRINCIPLES OF RES JUDICATA THAT ARTHUR JOHNSON WAS AN INCOMPETENT.



The proceedings in the incompetency hearing were not introduced in evidence, but were referred to on cross-examination of the various witnesses, who had testified at the earlier hearing. It is noted on pages 5 and 6 of appellants' brief that a petition was filed by respondents on July 27, 1957, to have the court declare Arthur Johnson, their father, to be an incompetent. It is also there noted that a hearing was held on August 6, 1957, and that the court granted the petition and declared Arthur Johnson to be an incompetent. This order is dated August 13, 1957. Although this was a contested proceeding opposed by Calvin, no appeal was taken from that order. It has thus become final under principles of *res judicata*, and at least by August 13, 1957, Arthur Johnson was incompetent.

(b) SINCE THE SPRING OF 1955, ARTHUR JOHNSON HAS BEEN MENTALLY INCOMPETENT AND PHYSICALLY INCAPACITATED A SUBSTANTIAL PORTION OF THE TIME.

Arthur Johnson was deeply affected by the death of his wife; it took the pep out of him, and he seemed to lose interest in the active management of his affairs. (R. 120, 35) At the same time, he was suffering from severe hypertension and arteriosclerosis and prostate trouble. (R. 52-3) He had moderate to very severe hypertension as early as 1952, and he did not respond well to treatment. (R. 53) On October 8, 1953, he underwent a serious prostate operation in San Diego, California, and then underwent a similar operation within a matter of weeks thereafter. He was in great pain. (R. 38, 59, 167)

In the latter part of December, 1953, he was again hospitalized for complications arising out of the same trouble, and was released from the hospital in January of 1954. (R. 59) Dr. Fulstow saw him in May of 1954, and checked Mr. Johnson's blood pressure. At this time it was 228 over 144 over 140. A pressure of 135 over 85 was normal. (R. 60) In September, 1955, he complained of "ringing in the head," which would indicate an increase of blood pressure. (R. 60) Taylor Crosby, administrator of Kane County Hospital, testified that Mr. Johnson was hospitalized from April 19th to 23, 1955. (R. 100)

In the Spring of 1955 he underwent his first eye operation in Salt Lake City, and in the early summer of that year was again hospitalized for the same trouble. In the Fall of 1955 he underwent a second eye operation in Salt Lake City, and was under rather constant treatment during the entire Spring, Summer and Fall of that year. (R. 167) He was hospitalized again in December of 1955. During this time, and on December 27, 1955, the hospital records contain a note that: "Patient up demanding coffee (at 2:30 a.m.) up wandering, extremely obnoxious in action." (R. 92)

The illness continued on into the Spring of 1956. Immediately prior to the time (May 20, 1956) when Calvin procured the contract of sale and the deed to the valuable business property in Kanab, Arthur Johnson had undergone an intensive period of serious physical disability. He was suffering from acute high blood pressure

on April 30, 1956. Dr. Fulstow testified that his blood pressure had increased to 286 over 162 over 158. (R. 55) The doctor said this was an extremely high blood pressure and that: "Recorded blood pressures at that amount suggests that a stroke is dangerous, the possibility of a stroke is present."

The doctor on that date administered hypertension medicine and "the patient's response was more marked than is usually seen," and it caused an "excessive drop in blood pressure," and Mr. Johnson fainted. He was immediately hospitalized. (R. 54) The doctor also noted that when extremely high blood pressure is alleviated, there may be damage to the small arteries in the brain, and this could affect the patient's mental processes. (R. 68) Dr. Fulstow further noted that this damage to the small arteries interferes with the nutrition of the brain. (R. 68) He also noted that Mr. Johnson suffered at this same time from "moderately severe" arteriosclerosis. This also would interfere with circulation. (R. 61)

Mr. Johnson was placed in the hospital on April 30th and released May 2, 1956. He was only out of the hospital one day, and then was re-admitted to the hospital on May 3rd, because of a bad nose bleed, which in the opinion of Dr. Fulstow was caused by high blood pressure. (R. 63) Mr. Johnson was released from the hospital again May 6th. The doctor noted that he made an emergency house call to attend Mr. Johnson at noon on May 15th. Mr. Johnson had fainted and was found on the

floor. "His eyes were up in his head and he was drooling at the mouth. He had wet all over his clothes." The family changed his clothing and called the doctor. Mr. Johnson was immediately again placed in the hospital. (R. 171, 100, 64)

During this period of hospitalization, beginning May 15, 1956, and ending May 20th (the date he signed the deed) the hospital records show that Mr. Johnson was out of his bed "wandering" around the hall. The attending nurse noted on the hospital records that Mr. Johnson "apparently does not know where he is. He was up and about and apparently doesn't know where he is." (R. 93) He was released from the hospital on May 20, 1956, and it was on this date—the very day of his release—that Calvin got the deed to the business property and had the contract of sale and will signed. All were executed in Calvin's presence and at Calvin's home. (R. 510, 505, 522, Exs. 1, 2, 14)

In June, 1956, Mr. Johnson had a head cold accompanied by a fainting spell. The doctor said that following this "he showed definite confusion" for a while. These periods of confusion were almost steady. (R. 57) The doctor made a house call on June 8th. Mr. Johnson suffered a stroke on June 23rd and was again hospitalized. (R. 64)

Mr. Johnson was 73 years of age. (R. 49) Running through this entire period of time, he suffered from nose bleeds, (R. 56) He had severe sick headaches. (R. 35) His eye sight was badly impaired. (R. 73) His heart

was enlarged about 100 per cent. (R. 65-6) He was not mentally alert (R. 58) and had little interest in his business. (R. 35) He would lay on a bed in the back of his store, would not wait on customers and would leave his store unlocked. (R. 35, 191) When in Salt Lake, he would think he was in Kanab, (R. 108) and did not know his younger grandchildren. (R. 258) He had to have help shaving and bathing. (R. 254) He did not have control over either his bowels or urine. (R. 254)

He did not know when he had to void, (R. 58) and various witnesses testified that he frequently wet his clothing. (R. 254, 40, 171) According to Dr. Fulstow this would indicate he was "not in full possession of his mental facilities." (R. 58) In October, 1955, he locked himself in a service station restroom, talked irrationally, complained about there being no toilet paper in the restroom, when in fact there was. (R. 172, 39)

Throughout this period of time he had few inhibitions about dress. On various occasions and at various times, beginning as early as 1955, Mr. Johnson would come into the room where adult women were present in various stages of undress, sometimes with only his garments on, and on one occasion without clothing on at all. (R. 35, 175, 176, 252, 377) He had difficulty orienting himself as to time and place. (R. 58, 57)

We submit that from the foregoing evidence, the court properly found that at least since the Spring of 1955 Arthur Johnson was seriously ill and was mentally

and physically incapacitated from attending to his ordinary business affairs.

- (c) SEVERAL WITNESSES TESTIFIED THAT ARTHUR NEEDED HELP WITH HIS BUSINESS AFFAIRS.

William J. Mackelprang testified:

“I think that Carrie kind of took the pep out of him, her death.

“Oh, I think it kind of made a difference in him.” (R. 120)

Dr. Fulstow said:

“A combination of a number of circumstances have resulted in what appears to be interference with his mental function.” (R. 61)

“Q. Now, Dr. Fulstow, from your observation of Mr. Johnson’s condition during the period of your treatment, commencing in April, 1956, and extending through the present time, what would be your opinion as to whether Mr. Johnson was competent during that period to handle his own affairs consistently and without help from someone?

“A. I would be inclined to think that during that period of time he would have need of help in handling his own affairs.” (R. 75)

His brother Vernon Johnson testified that not since 1955 has he “been able to function properly in a business way; that is my honest opinion.” (R. 111)

- (d) ARTHUR JOHNSON LET CALVIN C. JOHNSON TAKE OVER THE ACTIVE MANAGEMENT OF HIS BUSINESS AFFAIRS, AND CALVIN OCCUPIED A POSITION OF CONFIDENCE AND TRUST.

Appellants contend that there is no evidence to sustain the finding that Calvin took over the management of most of Arthur Johnson's properties and business affairs, or that Arthur had placed considerable confidence and trust in Calvin. We submit that the evidence almost conclusively shows that he did.

Several witnesses testified that Mr. Johnson's wife Carrie, was prior to her death, the "business head" and had assumed the active management of the business property. (R. 27, 111, 119, 166) Arthur Johnson was deeply affected by her death in July of 1953. (R. 120) He was ill at the time, and was hospitalized much of the Fall and early Winter of 1953, as is outlined above. The need for help no doubt existed, and, in any event, numerous witnesses testified that Calvin took over the active management of Arthur's business affairs. (R. 27, 111, 120, 166, 167) This is further borne out by the documentary evidence and the testimony of the various tenants. There are checks going back to 1955, made payable to Arthur Johnson by numerous tenants but deposited to his account by Calvin. See, for example plaintiffs' Ex. 3 and 9 and R. 473, 558-66. These checks conclusively show that Calvin was receiving substantial amounts of rent and placing it in the Arthur Johnson bank account.

There are also checks conclusively showing that Calvin Johnson was authorized, and did draw checks against the Arthur Johnson account. For example, the attorney fee which was paid to Attorney Fenton for drawing

the deed to the business property is dated November 14, 1956, and is drawn against Arthur Johnson's account and signed by Calvin. (Ex. 16) See also a check dated May 8, 1957, drawn to Frank Farnsworth for \$40.00, and another check to a Mr. Meeks, dated June 12, 1956. (Ex. 8) Both of those checks were drawn against Arthur Johnson's account by Calvin.

The testimony of the various witnesses leaves no doubt that Calvin was in active management of the properties of his father. Respondent Narvol Johnson testified affirmatively that after his mother's death in 1953, Calvin took charge of their father's business property. (R. 27) Narvol also testified that his father didn't show much interest in handling the business rentals. (R. 35) "He just lay on the bed sick. Customers would come into the store, and he wouldn't wait on them.\*\*\*" (R. 35)

Vernon Johnson was of the opinion that since his prostate operations Arthur was not able to discharge his business responsibilities. (R. 111)

Della Johnson also testified affirmatively that Calvin ran his father's business after the mother, Carrie, died. (R. 166, 167)

Respondent LaFaun Fleming testified that her father was very forgetful by April of 1955. (R. 252)

Narvol also testified that his father owned a Packard automobile; that Calvin traded it in for an automobile for Calvin (R. 21). He also testified that Calvin received all of the range rights—a 300 head permit —



which had belonged to his father. (R. 22, 23) Narvol was asked who operated their father's cattle now, and he answered that they are operated by Calvin. LaFaun Fleming also testified that Arthur Johnson couldn't get around by himself outside the house; that this was because of a combination of physical and mental disabilities. (R. 254) Mrs. Fleming also testified that after her mother's death, her father was depressed; that he was not able to care for his business affairs and "he turned—Calvin took charge of his business." (R. 270)

Even the witnesses called by the defendants confirmed Arthur Johnson's disinterest in his business affairs and Calvin's active management. Mr. Jones was a tenant of Arthur Johnson. He paid Arthur when he could, but otherwise paid the rent to Calvin. (R. 395) He testified that he discussed renewing his lease with Calvin, and that Arthur "*may*" have been present. (R. 396, 397) He needed to get the roof fixed on the building he was renting from Arthur but he said that he saw Calvin about it. (R. 398) When he was asked if it was not Calvin, he talked to on the roof, he said, "We talked to both of them." He was then asked in effect if his principal conversation about the roof was not with Calvin, and he answered "Yes." (R. 398)

Sylvan W. Johnson, who was also called by the defendants, testified on cross-examination that Arthur Johnson told him to pay the rent to Calvin, because he, (Arthur) was probably going to California. He also testified that he kept delivering the payments to Calvin,

although the checks were made payable to Arthur. (R. 442) He testified about taking over the grocery store in February of 1956 from Arthur Johnson, but that Calvin helped him take the inventory. (R. 451, 452)

Mr. Neaf Swapp was another tenant of Arthur Johnson. He took over the lease previously made to one Garn Hamblin. When that lease expired in 1956, he talked to Calvin about it—not to Arthur. Still, it was his understanding that he was leasing from Arthur, and he made his rent checks payable to Arthur, but he delivered them to Calvin. (R. 473)

There is other evidence of the same type. We think the record thus conclusively shows that the father did permit Calvin to manage his affairs and placed trust and confidence in his son Calvin.

(e) THERE ARE NUMEROUS ABNORMAL ACTIONS,  
SOME NOTED AS EARLY AS 1954.

We will not separately review here all of the items of abnormal conduct, but they were many, and further support the findings to the effect that Arthur has been mentally and physically incompetent since at least the Spring of 1955. In 1954 he buried his money in the basement of the store. (R. 195) At about this same time he was asked about \$30,000 which his wife had kept hidden in the store, and he said, he just “forgot” where she said she put it. (R. 28) In the Fall of 1954 he “just forgot” a valuable lease of State School lands in Arizona. (R. 27) On several occasions in 1955, Mr. Johnson came down-town with his trousers unbuttoned—just holding on to

his belt. (R. 35)

Narvol said that Mr. Johnson was in so much pain in the Spring of 1955 "that he didn't know hardly anything" (R. 38) In April of 1955, when he was staying in Salt Lake with his daughter, LaFaun, he would on many occasions forget to dress. (R. 252) He would forget to eat sometimes, and other times LaFaun would feed him and only a few minutes later he would complain that she hadn't fed him, and she would fix food again, and he would again eat. (R. 252, 253)

In April of 1955, he was afraid to go out of the house in Salt Lake City — afraid he couldn't find his way around. (R. 332) During his stay at LaFaun's house in April of 1955, her husband had to bathe and shave Mr. Johnson. (R. 333) He never bathed himself even a single time. (R. 336) It was also in April of 1955 that Mr. Johnson had a bowel movement and "messed all over the bed and floor" and Mr. Fleming testified "each time I bathed him, well, he had messed in his garments." (R. 333)

By January 1, 1955, he had lost interest in handling the business of his rentals. (R. 35) It was at this time that he would lay on the bed sick and not wait on customers and would leave the store unlocked. (R. 35) By the Spring of 1955 Narvol noticed that Mr. Johnson "suffered from lapse of memory," and that he could not make decisions. (R. 36) It was in the Spring of 1955 that he would rent cabins to various Indians on one day and call the officers to put them out the next day—then he would

rent to them again. (R. 36)

His brother Vernon testified that on May 21, 1955, Mr. Johnson signed a check on which the signature was so poorly made that Vernon did not think it would go through the bank. (R. 114) Vernon also said that at this time Mr. Johnson, while staying at LaFaun's house in Salt Lake, thought he was in Kanab. (R. 108)

All of the above transpired prior to the time he signed the deed giving Calvin all of the field properties valued at \$12,650.00 on July 20, 1955, and preceded by more than a year the deed to the business property, on May 20, 1956. In the meantime, everyone recognized that Mr. Johnson was getting progressively worse. As time elapsed, he got more careless about coming among people while he was undressed. (R. 252, 95, 377). In the Fall of 1955 he locked himself in a public restroom at a service station and made a terrible fuss because he said there wasn't any toilet paper, when in fact there was. (R. 39)

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